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Glossary of terms

Intelisys

‘Act” — The Companies (Winding Up Amendment) Act, 2011
“Ansbacher” — Ansbacher (Bahamas) Limited
“B$” - Bahamian Dollars

‘Banks” — three (3) local banks providing banking services to and for the Company — RBC Royal Bank
(Bahamas) Limited, Ansbacher (Bahamas) Limited and Deltec Bank & Trust Limited

“CA$” — Canadian Dollars
“CredInvest” — Banca CredInvest SA

“Company” - Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd. (encompassing its various states: before voluntary liquidation,
during the voluntary liquidation and during the current court supervised liquidation)

“Court” — The Supreme Court of The Bahamas

“Custodians” — four (4) third party service providers with whom customer funds were invested, i.e. DBT
(defined hereinabove), Swissquote, Credinvest and NIB the latter three defined hereinbelow

‘DBT” - Deltec Bank & Trust Limited

‘DFS” - Deltec Fund Services Limited

“Deltec” — DBT and DFS jointly

“Euro” — Euro dollars

“Finamic” - Finamic Services — ATRIUM financial reporting system

“First Meeting” — meeting of creditors scheduled for January 16, 2020

“Kicays” — Kicays Accounting and Consulting Services

“Kikivarakis & Co.” — Kikivarakis & Co. Chartered Accountants and Consultants

“Klein” — Arturo Klein, Former Chief Executive Officer of the Company, a Director of the Company and the
beneficial shareholder of the Company via ownership of shares in the Company and ownership of shares in
Valora Investments Ltd., the Company’s majority shareholder.

“IBC” — International Business Company

“Liquidator” — joint reference to the Official Liquidator and Voluntary Liquidator both defined here in below
“Lanciano” - Luca Lanciano, Former Chief Operating Officer of the Company

“Lyford Fund” - Lyford Diversified Global Fund, SAC
“NIB” — North International Bank Limited
“Official Liquidator” ~-Edmund L. Rahming, Official Liquidator of the Company

“Order” — Order of the Court dated October 28, 2019 placing the liquidation of the Company under Court
supervision and appointing Edmund L. Rahming as Official Liquidator of the Company

“Petitioner” — Mr. Edmund L. Rahming when he was the Voluntary Liquidator of the Company
“Phoenix” — Phoenix Capital Limited
“‘Receiver” - Philip C. Galanis of HLB Galanis & Co.

As at November 30, 2019 4
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o “RBC”- RBC Royal Bank (Bahamas) Limited

e “SCB’ - Securities Commission of the Bahamas

o “Segregated Account’ — Alfa Pacifico Sub-Fund

e “Sub-Funds” —Fifteen (15) sub-funds sponsored by the Company including Alfa Pacifico Sub-Fund
o “Swissquote” — Swissquote Bank Limited

e “Tamburini” — Eliano Tamburini

e “US$" - United States Dollars

e “Valora” - Valora Investments Ltd., majority shareholder of the Company

o “Voluntary Liquidator” — Mr. Edmund Rahming from October 2, 2019 to October 27, 2019

o “Welwyn”— Welwyn Limited, corporate secretary and a nominee company controlled and managed by Lennox
Paton Corporate Services Limited

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019 5
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1.2

1.3
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1.5

1.6

Intelisys

Basis of Appointment

On October 2, 2019, pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company and the Act, the
Company was placed into voluntary liquidation and Mr. Edmund L. Rahming of Intelisys was appointed as

Voluntary Liquidator of the Company. A copy of the resolution is attached at Appendix 1.

On October 28, 2019, by Order of The Supreme Court of the Bahamas and pronounced by The Honorable
Mr. Justice lan Winder, the voluntary liquidation of the Company was continued under the supervision of The
Supreme Court of the Bahamas. Further, Mr. Edmund L. Rahming was appointed as Official Liquidator of the

Company. A copy of the resolution is attached at Appendix 1.
Unless otherwise stated all financial data in this report is in United States Dollars (“US$”).

Restrictions and Qualifications of the Report

This first report is prepared and submitted by the Official Liquidator to creditors and customers of the Company
for the purpose of providing information regarding the work undertaken by the Liquidator since the date of his
appointment as Voluntary Liquidator and continuing through his appointment as Official Liquidator to the
November 30, 2019. This first report presents his preliminary findings in preparation for the meeting of

creditors and customers of the Company to be held on January 16, 2020.

Neither the Liquidator, Intelisys, Callenders & Co. nor any of the other team members advising Mr. Rahming
in this liquidation (voluntary and later under Court supervision) will be responsible for any losses, damages,

liabilities or claims arising from the use and/or reliance on this report.

In performing their work, the Liquidator and his team have relied on the integrity and accuracy of the
information and documents supplied. Although the Liquidator and his team have attempted to corroborate
the information they have obtained from different sources, they have not independently verified all the
information and documentation upon which they have relied in preparing this report. In addition, the Liquidator
and his team have not performed an audit or review in accordance with General or International Auditing

Standards, and consequently, no assurance is expressed in this regard.
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1.8

1.9
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1.12
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This report has been prepared in a limited time frame and not all information relevant to the investigation of
the Company’s affairs is at hand. The Liquidator and his team have therefore formed their views based on

the information provided to date.
This report shall not be copied, reproduced or distributed without the prior written permission of the Liquidator.

Sources of Financial Data and Information
The Liquidator and his team have drawn upon documentation obtained from the Company and information
and documentation obtained from the following service providers to the Company:
(@) Auditors: Kikivarakis & Co. the Company’s current auditors
(b) Data processors: Finamic— Use ATRIUM system (to prepare company
holdings information on a consolidated and allocated basis)
(c) Custodians/Brokers: Four (4) third-party custodians/brokers — DBT, Swissquote, CredInvest and NIB
(d) Banks: Three (3) banks — RBC, Ansbacher, and DBT

The Liquidator and his team have also obtained information from the following parties:

(@) Director and shareholders - Klein;

(b) The SCB;

(c) Welwyn — Corporate Secretary; and

(d) Former staff of the Company.

Scope of Work Performed

Pursuant to Section 205(3) of the Act, the Official Liquidator may exercise the powers necessary to carry out
the duties and functions of a liquidator under the Act and depending on the circumstances, he may or may

not need the sanction/approval of the Court. The powers of an Official Liquidator are set out in the Fourth

Schedule to the Act and are listed below:
Powers exercisable with sanction
(@) Power to bring or defend any action or other legal proceeding in the name and on behalf of the Company;

(b) Power to carry on the business of the Company, so far as may be necessary for the beneficial winding

up of the same;

As at November 30, 2019 7
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()

Power to dispose of any property of the Company to a person who is or was related to the Company;
Power to pay any class of creditors in full;

Power to make any compromise or arrangement with creditors or persons claiming to be creditors or
having or alleging themselves to have any claim (present or future, certain or contingent, ascertained or

sounding only in damages) against the Company or for which the Company may be rendered liable;

Power to compromise on such terms as may be agreed all debts and liabilities capable of resulting in
debts, and all claims (present or future, certain or contingent, ascertained or sounding only in damages)
subsisting, or supposed to subsist between the Company and a contributory or alleged contributory or

other debtor or person apprehending liability to the Company;

Power to deal with all questions in any way relating to or affecting the assets or the winding up of the
Company, to take any security for the discharge of any such call, debt, liability or claim and to give a

complete discharge in respect of it;

Power to sell any of the Company’s property by public auction or private contract with power to transfer

the whole of it to any person or to sell the same in parcels;
Power to raise or borrow money and grant securities therefor over the property of the Company;

Power to disclaim onerous property.

Powers exercisable without sanction

(a)

Power to take possession of, collect and get property of the Company and for that purpose to take all

such proceedings as he considers necessary;

Power to do all acts and execute, in the name and on behalf of the Company, all deeds, receipts, and

other documents, and for that purpose use, when necessary, the Company's seal;

Power to prove, rank and claim in the bankruptcy, insolvency or sequestration of any contributory for any
balance against his estate, and to receive dividends in the bankruptcy, insolvency or sequestration in
respect of that balance, as a separate debt due from the bankrupt or insolvent and rateably with the other

separate creditors;
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(d) Power to draw, accept, make and endorse any bill of exchange or promissory note in the name of and on
behalf of the Company, with the same effect in respect of the Company’s liability as if the bill or note had

been drawn, accepted, made or endorsed by or on behalf of the Company in the course of its business;
(e) Power to promote a scheme of arrangement pursuant to section 158;
(f) Power to convene meetings of creditors and contributories;

(9) Power to engage staff (whether or not as employees of the Company) to assist him in the performance

of his functions;

(h) Power to engage counsel and attorneys and other professionally qualified persons to assist him in the

performance of his functions;
(i) Power to do all other things incidental to the exercise of his powers.

Basis of Findings

1.14  In order for the Liquidator to comply with his duties and obligations, certain aspects of the work has been
performed by staff from Intelisys under the direction of the Liquidator. As such, when referring to the work

performed, the report makes reference to “we” and “us”. These terms are synonymous with the Liquidator.

1.15  Inaddition, the Liquidator have been guided by the advice he has received from his legal counsel, Callenders
& Co.

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019 9
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2.3

24

2.5
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Upon appointment, the Voluntary Liquidator provided notice of the winding up of the Company and his
appointment as Voluntary Liquidator to the Company’s registered office, directors, employees, professional
service providers, banks, custodians, customers, creditors, and the SCB. Additional information in relation to
communication with each of these stakeholders is contained in Section 4, “Activities Upon and Since

Appointment”.

The Liquidator has taken the necessary steps to preserve assets held in the Company’s name, including
submitting requests to banking institutions that all cash accounts be frozen effective as at the date of
appointment and requesting that custodians do not allow any transactions to occur with respect to securities

and accounts held in the name of the Company.
The Liquidator has taken possession of the books and records of the Company, including: -

a) Manual records located on the premises from which the Company previously operated and at a storage

site;
b) Electronic records stored on the computers and on cloud servers utilised by staff of the Company; and
c) Statements and other information obtained independently from custodians and banks.

The Liquidator and his team have conducted a review to determine the precise cause of the liquidation. Based
on their review the liquidation was ultimately caused by the mismanagement of the Company. In 2017 the
Company began to experience a cash shortage/solvency issue which was the result of paying out “excessive
cash” to related parties for business introductions and consulting. During the years 2018 and 2019 the cash
shortage issue was exasperated by late and inaccurate reporting on the Sub-Funds, the Sub-Funds being
placed into receivership, and the Company’s strategic decision not to take on new clients while regularizing

its portfolio.

The Liquidator and his team have had limited time to review the Company’s records, however based on what
they have seen or been told to date, they have identified a number of areas of concern which require further
analysis or investigation for the purpose of assessing the Company'’s financial position and the position vis-a-

vis its customers and the Sub-Funds. The more significant areas of concern are: -

As at November 30, 2019 10
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a)

The Company’s accounting records are several months in arrears as at the date of the Liquidator’s
appointment. Further, audited accounts have not been issued since the 2017 financial year in breach of
Sections 30 and 31 of the Securities Industry Act, 2011. The Liquidator has undertaken a broker

reconciliation exercise for the purposes of bringing the client accounts up to date.

Commissions receivable includes a substantial amount due related to the investments in the Sub-Funds
and based on the NAVs. The Official Liquidator will calculate the exact amount and address with the

Receiver and seek sanction of the Court.

Redemptions were made from the Sub-Funds with the knowledge that the NAVs were inflated and illiquid
investments existed in the Sub-Funds. While this is an issue primarily for the Receiver to address, it
does have an adverse impact on customers of the Company that currently have holdings in the Sub-

Funds.

There were unauthorized transactions involving one of the Custodians after notification of the liquidation

of the Company. The Official Liquidator will address these issues.

There are substantial related party payments and transfers made with the apparent knowledge that
insolvency of the Company would occur. There also appear to be creditor payments made shortly before
the liquidation which were transacted with the knowledge that the Company would shortly become
insolvent. These payments and transfers will be reviewed by the Official Liquidator in accordance with
the Act.

As noted previously, a cause of the insolvency was the reporting issues the Company had with one of
the local Custodians. The Company has documented several claims against the custodian. These claims

will be reviewed, and a recommendation made to the creditors and customers.

As a result of preliminary investigations to date, the Liquidator believes that further financial and legal analysis

is required to determine the financial position of the Company, what improprieties (if any) occurred, what

potential claims (if any) the Company may have, and the amounts owed to creditors and customers. The

Official Liquidator intends to make recommendations to the customers and creditors and to seek the direction

of the Court to undertake the financial and legal analysis.
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2.7 Until such time as the Court provides directions in relation to these matters the Official Liquidator has
determined to limit any further work in respect of the liquidation to those matters necessary to comply with his
fiduciary responsibilities. Such work includes, the calling and holding of a meeting of creditors and customers,
safeguarding the assets of the Company, complying with various statutory requirements, including the
application for the use of trust assets to cover the cost of the liquidation, the application for directions on the
way forward vis-a-vis the Sub-Funds and commissions receivable, continuing liaison with the SCB, and other

matters necessary for the Official Liquidator to discharge his duties.

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019 12
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Principal Activities of the Company

The Company was incorporated on September 30, 2011. On December 30, 2011 the Company was
registered and licensed by the SCB to “Manage Securities”. The principal activity of Company for the years
2012 to 2014 was providing investment advisory services. These services were provided to clients via a third-
party platform provided by APMS Assets and Portfolio Management Services Ltd. The Company hired
Tamburini as Chief Executive Officer in early 2013. He was employed with the Company from March 2013 to
December 2017. Lanciano was hired as Chief Operating Officer in late 2014. He was employed with the
Company from October 2014 to June 2018. The Company operated from the Royal Star Building, JFK Drive
for the period from October 1, 2014 to September 30, 2018. On October 1, 2018 the Company moved to 1
Pineapple House, Old Fort Bay, West Bay Street.

On September 11, 2015 the Company was licensed and registered by the SCB for “Managing Securities,
Dealing as Agent or Principal, Arranging Deals in Securities, and Advising on Securities”, effectively a broker-
dealer license. The principal activities of the Company became managing securities, dealing as agent or

principal, arranging deals in securities, and advising on securities.

The clients were referred to the Company mainly by Klein, Tamburini and Lanciano. We noted that the

majority of clients on the Company’s books were clients referred by Tamburini and Lanciano.

The Company’s assets under management as at year-end December 31 were as follows: 2014: $118M; 2015:
$282M; 2016: $334M; 2017: $314M; 2018: $229M

The Lyford Fund, an open-ended investment fund incorporated in the Bahamas in June 2015, was promoted
to the management of the Company by executives at Deltec, as a beneficial investment holding structure for
the Company’s clients. Between October 2016 and June 2017, the Company sponsored a total of twenty
Sub-Funds or Segregated Accounts linked to the Lyford Fund and had over $217M (as of December 31, 2017)
or approximately 70% of its assets under management placed into the Sub-Funds. The Segregated Account

was the main fund sponsored by the Company.

As at November 30, 2019 13
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3.6 For the Company’s sponsored Sub-Funds, DFS acted as the Administrator, Transfer Agent, and Registrar of

the Sub-Funds, DBT acted as custodian, and Deltec Fund Directors Ltd. and Deltec Fund Governors Ltd.

acted as Directors of the Lyford Fund. The Company was the Investment Manager of the Sub-Funds and

custodian of most of the assets of the Sub-Funds. The Company’s clients are the investors and shareholders

of the Sub-Funds, and Ansbacher and CredInvest act as custodians of some of the assets of the Sub-Funds.

3.7 The status of the Sub-Funds sponsored by the Company is shown in the table below. As at November 30,

2019 fifteen (15) of the Sub-Funds are in receivership, two (2) of the Sub-Funds were liquidated, two of the

Sub-funds were not funded, and one (1) of the Sub-Funds is closed.

No. | Sub-Fund Name Current status Assets Under Management
as at Dec. 31, 2017
1 Alfa Pacifico Sub-Fund In receivership $83,451,988.48
2 | Basur Sub-Fund In receivership $3,511,911.49
3 Bullion Pacifico Sub-Fund Liquidated - June 29, | $3,025,984.81
2018 (account overdrawn)
4 | Saturr Sub-Fund In receivership $3,462,829.28
5 Spectator Sub-Fund In receivership $12,147,561.39
6 WIK Sub-Fund In receivership $2,594,817.47
7 Patrice Sub-Fund (USD) Liquidated - requested | $5,826,104.39
July 4,2018
8 EUR Conservative Sub-Fund In receivership $10,453,547.42
9 Global Opportunities NX Sub-Fund Closed (the Company still | $3,869,982.43
has custody of assets)
10 | Global Opportunities Fund EUR SF Not funded
11 | Global Opportunities KR Sub-Fund In receivership $2,066,955.87
12 | Global Opportunities Sub-Fund EUR LU In receivership $1,537,576.15
13 | LAM Sub-Fund In receivership $19,181,625.63
14 | ALM Sub-Fund In receivership $19,302,257.32
15 | Omega Pacifico Sub-Fund In receivership - (in initial offering stage as
at December 31, 2017)

Intelisys

As at November 30, 2019
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16 | Pacifico Global Opportunities Sub-Fund CM | In receivership $5,476,297.84
17 | Pacifico Global Opportunities Sub-Fund GT | In receivership $26,661,157.65
18 | Pacifico Global Opportunities Sub-Fund KA | In receivership $8,804,604.78

3.8

3.9

3.10

Intelisys

19 | Pacifico Global Opportunities Sub-Fund OR | Not funded -

20 | Pacifico Global Opportunities Sub-Fund DE | In receivership $5,892,956.04

Total | $217,268,158.40

Events prior to the Liquidator’s Appointment

Internal Conflict

We understand thatin early 2017 the Company began to experience internal conflict amongst its stakeholders.
The stated reasons for the internal conflict vary and include a lack of communication between the managing
shareholder and executive management, a lack of transparency in the day-to-day operations of the Company,
a lack of sufficient documented policies and procedures, a lack of adherence to existing policies and
procedures, and an emerging and constant monthly cash flow shortage that resulted in an inability to pay in

a timely fashion the business introducers.

On November 30, 2017, the SCB was advised by the Company'’s legal counsel of its intention to dismiss
Tamburini, CEO, effective December 4, 2017, and to replace him with managing shareholder, Klein.
Subsequently, the Company’s Compliance Officer, Ms. Candice McPhee was dismissed effective March 16,
2018 and Lanciano, the Company’s Chief Operating Officer resigned effective June 30, 2018 (He tendered
his resignation letter on March 31, 2018).

Prior to his departure from the Company, Lanciano set up a new investment advisory firm, Phoenix Capital
Ltd. firm licensed with the SCB in May 2018.

As at November 30, 2019 15




First Report of the Official Liquidator
3 Background
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3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15
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Tamburini sent instructions, via Phoenix Capital Ltd., to DFS on May 29, 2018 for redemptions representing
51% (approximately $28M Euro) of the assets in the Segregated Account, a Sub-Fund of the Lyford Fund.
The redeemed assets were to be placed by subscription into a new Segregated Account called EUR Top
Selection Sub-Fund sponsored by Tamburini. EUR Top Selection Sub-Fund was to be administered by
Deltec. The redemptions were to occur on June 30, 2018. These instructions were not executed. (We are
informed that the Company at the request of Klein was provided by DFS a listing of redemption requests,
including 51% of assets of the Segregated Account, in late June 2018.  Prior to this the Company claims to

have not been informed or aware of the redemption requests sent by Tamburini to DFS.)

On June 6, 2018 the Company (without the knowledge of 51% redemption request) wrote DFS and advised
that it would be transferring the investment management mandate of twelve (12) sponsored sub-funds (EUR
Conservative, CM, GT, KA, DE, OR, NX, SF, KR, LU, LAM, and ALM) to Phoenix Capital Ltd. The
understanding of the Company was that the investment management mandate would be transferred on June

30, 2019 to Phoenix Capital and the Company would maintain the custody arrangement.

On June 28, 2018 the Company advised Deltec that Lanciano was no longer an authorized signatory of the
Company and it had come to its attention that he had acted and was acting in a manner adverse to the
Company i.e. the 51% of assets in the Segregated Account redemption requests and subscriptions to the
EUR Top Selection sub-fund. On June 29, 2018 the Company questioned the validity of the redemption
requests of 51% of the assets of the Segregated Account as they came from a staff member, Lanciano, of the
Company acting on behalf of Phoenix Capital Ltd. in a manner adverse to the Company and without

authorization of the Company.

A dispute arose between Deltec, the Company, Tamburini and Lanciano/Phoenix Capital which resulted in

the instructions not being carried out.

Between January 21, 2019 and June 19, 2019, Tamburini and Mr. Gianluca Berti, a business introducer to
the Company, requested the closure and transfer of thirty-nine (39) individual client account mandates, setup

and referred by them, with assets under custody of the Company and/or invested in the Segregated Account.

On June 29, 2019, Lanciano requested the closure and transfer of eighty-four (84) individual client account
mandates, setup and referred by him, with assets under custody of the Company and/or invested in thirteen
(13) sub-funds including the Segregated Account. Subsequently, the Company received additional requests
for closure and transfer of fourteen (14) individual client account mandates, setup and referred by him, with
assets under custody of the Company and/or invested in thirteen (13) sub-funds including the Segregated

Account.
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3.18

3.19
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Some of the transfer requests of Tamburini and Lanciano were not executed due to various factors including
insufficient KYC on customer files and the cessation of third-party payments by CredInvest, the main custodian

of the Company.

It should be noted that Mr. Marc Brune was hired in October 2017 by the managing shareholder to be the
chairman of the Company. We were advised that he was hired to conduct an internal review of the client
relationship and operations of the Company. He led the successful negotiation of a settlement of due and
outstanding commissions with Tamburini. He was ultimately unsuccessful in keeping the client account

mandates that were referred by Tamburini and Lanciano with the Company.

Deltec

Based on a preliminary review of the Company’s books and records, the Company raised several issues it

had with Deltec which included:

a) Deltec was conflicted and acting in a manner adverse to the Company by accepting the redemption

instructions from Lanciano/Phoenix and Tamburini;
b) The contract notes received by the Company from DFS were late and not accurately calculated;

c) The NAVs were often provided to the Company late and with errors. The late NAVs resulted in an inability

to pay itself management fees and to provide clients with timely statements of holdings;
d) The NAVs contained valuation errors;
e) There were errors made by DFS with the payment of management fees; and

f)  There were investments in the Sub-Funds that did not follow the short-term liquidity requirement of the

CPOM and there were often listed holdings with pricing errors.

The Company claims these issues negatively impacted the Company’s business by resulting in cash
shortages, an inability to pay itself management fees, an inability to file year-end financial statements to meet
Regulator mandated deadlines, customer complaints to the SCB, negative publicity, legal threats from

customers, and the loss of customers.

The Official Liquidator and his team will review these claims and make recommendations to the creditors and

customers.

As at November 30, 2019 17
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As previously noted, approximately $217M of assets under management (or over 70% of the Company’s
assets under management) were transferred between October 2016 and June 2017 into sub-funds of the
Lyford Fund sponsored by the Company. The Company acted as investment manager and custodian, DFS
acted as the Administrator of the funds, and Deltec Fund Directors Ltd. and Deltec Fund Governors Ltd. acted

as Directors of the Lyford Fund.

Prior to the liquidation and as previously noted, redemption requests for 51% of the assets of the Segregated
Account were made, redeemable as at June 30, 2018. We understand that DFS received letters from the
majority of the Alfa Pacifico Sub-Fund requesting the investment manager be changed from the Company to
Phoenix. The Company advised that several meetings were had with DFS, the Company and Phoenix to

address valuation and pricing issues.

A dispute arose between the Company, Deltec and Phoenix. The dispute arose due to the Company
apparently not having knowledge of the large redemption request that was made by Phoenix while Lanciano
was employed by the Company and the proposed change in custodianship from the Company to DFS. DFS,
in its capacity as Administrator of the Sub-Funds and proposed Administrator for the EUR Top Selection sub-
funds was conflicted. It became apparent that the dispute potentially endangered the assets in the Segregated
Account. The dispute was further complicated by ongoing redemption requests to various Sub-Funds,

valuation errors and lack of timely NAVSs, liquidity issues and cross investments across the Sub-Funds.
On July 30, 2018, a suspension notice was sent the shareholders of the Segregated Account.

On August 1, 2018, the Segregated Account was suspended by unanimous consent of the Board of Directors
of the Lyford Fund.

On March 7, 2019, the Segregated Account was placed into receivership and Mr. Philip Galanis was appointed
Receiver-Manager by the Board of Directors of the Lyford Fund. The other sub-funds were placed into

receivership on May 28, 2019.

As previously noted, the assets placed with the Sub-Funds by the Company had previously accounted for
approximately 70% of the Company’s asset under management. By December 31, 2018, due to the closure
of client accounts, transfer of accounts, and other changes at the Company, the percentage of the Company’s
assets under management in the Sub-Funds was 52% ($114M) and 87% of assets under custody. These

assets were all in receivership by May 28, 2019.
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On March 13, 2019, the Company received a revocation notice from the Receiver for the Segregated Account.
The Investment Manager role of the Company was revoked and a request was made for the transfer of all
assets of the Segregated Account. On May 28, 2019, the Company received revocation notices for the other
Sub-Funds.

On August 27, 2019, the Company sent instructions to its various custodians requesting the transfer of assets

to the Receiver.

As at September 30, 2019, approximately $47M in assets has been transferred from the Company’s custody

to the Receiver.

As at September 30, 2019, total assets in custody with the Company related to the Sub-Funds in receivership
consist of securities with a market value of $28,125,872 and cash of $39,320,258.

During the month of October 2019, a total of $13,446,006 had been transferred from the Company’s omnibus
account at Deltec and onto the Receiver. This transfer was made without the authorization of the Liquidator.

The Official Liquidator will review this transaction.

As at November 1, 2019, the total assets related to the Sub-Funds remaining in custody with the Company
consist of securities with a market value $28,689,531 and cash of $26,623,616.

Internal Investigations and resulting Company’s Approach

As previously stated, Mr. Brune was hired as the new Chairman of the Company in October 2017. He was
charged immediately with conducting an investigation into the Company’s affairs. He was assisted in the
investigation by Mrs. Nadia Butler, the new Compliance Officer at the Company. The reported findings of
their internal investigations were that the Company lacked clear operational and compliance related policies
and procedures, there were no internal controls, there were no corporate resolutions for decisions made, there
was no operational transparency, management personnel operated independent of each other and there was
no knowledge of what the other was doing, many of the client files lacked proper KYC documentation, and

some of the clients appeared to be involved in suspicious transactions.

As a result of the internal investigation a total of 7 STRs were filed with the Financial Intelligence Unit and

copies were provided to the SCB.
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We were informed that given the results of the internal investigation the Company took the strategic
operational decision to not engage new clientele prior to clearing all irregularities and to closing existing
accounts that did not have KYC documentation and that raised red flags. New business clients were not

engaged by the firm during the period August 2017 to liquidation date.
Cash Shortfall

We were informed that during 2017, the Company began to experience cash shortages and was unable to
pay certain expenses, including commissions to business introducers, in a timely fashion. We understand
that this was the result of the cash withdrawals and business introducer fees that over time placed a strain on

the Company’s cash resources. Factors that further exasperated the cash shortage issue include:

a) The transfer of the majority of the assets under management by the Company to sponsored Sub-Funds
of the Lyford Fund at DFS. The Company’s books and records reveal a number of issues that the
Company documented on the reporting of the Sub-Funds and the payment of management fees and late
fees. The Company was unable to pay itself investment manager fees and administration fees on a

timely basis. These issues will be further reviewed by the Official Liquidator.

b) The Sub-Funds were eventually placed in receivership and therefore no cash revenue would be

forthcoming from the majority of its client portfolio.

c) The Company took the strategic decision to not engage new clients (from August 2017 onwards) until
after it had addressed irregularities found at the Company. Furthermore, the Company closed all client
relationships it found to be suspicious or for which proper KYC was not found on file. This resulted in no

new revenue.

The cash shortage/solvency issue and resulting liquidation of the Company appears to have been caused by
poor management of the Company, specifically paying out “excessive cash” to related parties, the inability to
pay itself management and administration fees in a timely fashion, the Sub-Funds being placed into

receivership, and the strategic decision not to take on new clients.

The capital requirement of the Company of $300,000 does not appear to have been breached during the
period August 2017 to September 2019. However, had the Company continued to operate and not receive a

capital injection the capital requirement would have been breached in October 2019.
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Incorporation and Licensing

The Company was incorporated on September 30, 2011 and is registered with the Companies Registry of
The Bahamas under No. 60146C. A copy of the Certificate of Incorporation is attached as Appendix 2. On
December 30, 2011 the Company was registered and licensed by the SCB to “Manage Securities”. A copy

of the license certificates attached at Appendix 3.

On September 11, 2015 the Company was licensed and registered by the SCB for “Managing Securities,
Dealing as Agent or Principal, Arranging Deals in Securities, and Advising on Securities”, effectively a broker-

dealer license.

The registered office of the Company as at the date of the appointment of the Liquidator was Lennox Paton
Corporate Services Ltd., 3 Bayside Executive Park, Blake Road & West Bay Street, Nassau, The Bahamas.
The Company’s operating office was located at No. 1 Pineapple House, West Bay Street, Nassau, The

Bahamas.

The Company derived its revenue from the provision of investment management services to customers.
Revenue included portfolio/asset management fees, transaction charges, custodian fees, direct investment
facilitation fees, and other miscellaneous fees. A copy of the Company’s fee schedule is shown at Appendix
4,

Share Ownership Structure

The Company is limited by shares and the authorized capital as stated in the Memorandum is $25,000 divided
into 25,000 shares having par value of B$1 each all being of a single class designated as “ordinary chares”.

These shares are held as follows:

Shareholder Name Shares Held B$ Value
Valora Investments Ltd. (I/T for Arturo Klein) 20,000 20,000
Arturo Klein 5,000 5,000
Total 25,000 $25,000

Administration and Management

The Company’s Board of Directors included Thomas Coughlin (resigned May 27, 2019) and Alessandra
Calcagno (appointed June 17, 2019, subject to approval of the SCB. The latest annual return dated January

17, 2019 provides the following information regarding the Company’s directors/officers: -
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Title Name
Director/Managing Director/Chief Executive | Arturo Klein (resigned as Chief Executive
Officer Officer on September 20, 2019)
Director Thomas Coughlin (resigned May 27, 2019)
Secretary Welwyn Limited (resigned November 4,
2019)
Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) Kareem Kikivarakis (March 19, 2019 to
September 30, 2019)
Vice President, Accounting and Fund | Quetelle Ferguson
Services
Vice President of Office Operations Delecia Campbell
Compliance Officer and MLRO Vanasha Nadia Shearer-Butler
347 At the time of appointment of the Liquidator the Company was operated on a day-to-day basis by Kareem

3.48

3.49

3.50
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Kikivarakis as COO, Ms. Quetelle Ferguson, Vice President, Accounting and Fund Services, Ms. Vanasha
Nadia Shearer-Butler, Compliance Officer and MLRO, and Ms. Delecia Campbell, Vice President of Office

Operations. Darren Seymour was the licensed trader at the Company.

For the period April 2018 to the date of liquidation, the Company’s accounting (including bookkeeping and
financial reporting) and management function was carried out by Kicays Accounting and Consulting Services,
a company owned and operated by Kareem Kikivarakis. In March 2019, Kareem Kikivarakis was appointed
Chief Operating Officer by a resolution of the Board of the Company and held this position through to
September 30, 2019.

The Company’s auditor is Kikivarakis & Co., located at Caves Professional Centre, Caves Village, West Bay
Street & Blake Road, Nassau, The Bahamas. The last audit completed by Kikivarakis & Co. was of the
Company’s financial statements for the year-ended December 31, 2017 which was completed on May 15,
2018. A copy of the audited financial statements dated December 31, 2017 and of a draft unaudited financial

schedule showing December 31, 2018 results are attached at Appendix 5.
Structure of Services and Clientele

The Company is a standalone legal entity. At this time, we have found no other corporate structures legally

related to it.
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3.51  The Company is a broker-dealer and engaged in advisory, custody, dealer/trading activity. Assets of clients
are held under management and are subject to a discretionary management agreement. Assets of clients

are held in custody and are subject to a custody agreement.

3.52  Clients are brought to the firm by business introducers who are paid a percentage on the gross value of the

investments by the client.

3.53  Client accounts are in the form of individual name accounts or IBCs that have third party registered offices.
At the time of appointment of the Official Liquidation there were a total of 126 client accounts, including 12
client accounts with Sub-Fund investments only, 44 client accounts with investment holdings independent of

the Sub-Funds, and 70 client accounts with investment holdings both in the Sub-Funds and otherwise.

Intelisys
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4 Activities Upon and Since Appointment

Assuming Control of the Operations and Assets of the Company

4.1 Immediately on appointment, the Liquidator and his team attended the office of the Company and secured the

premises and records, including, inter alia: -

(a) Advising all staff in attendance, of Voluntary Liquidator's appointment by resolution of the shareholders
and outlining his duties and powers, specifically that all management control of the Company vested in
the Voluntary Liquidator and that no action in respect of the affairs of the Company or its assets, wherever

situated, could be taken without the express permission of the Voluntary Liquidator;

(b) Arranged for the access codes to the office be changed and all access to the premises to be controlled
by the Voluntary Liquidator or his staff, and obtained and secured all keys for the doors, desks, and filing

cabinets;

(c) Obtained a copy of all data and information stored on the Company’s computer system as at the date of
appointment of the Voluntary Liquidator and reviewed system access and security measures, including

limiting the access to such systems as deemed appropriate by the Voluntary Liquidator; and

(d) Reviewed the staffing requirements of the Company in view of the liquidation and engaged essential staff

on casual terms at rates of pay not less than those which the Company had engaged them.
42 The Liquidator has undertaken the following activities to secure the Company’s assets and Fiduciary assets:
Cash at bank

4.3 The Liquidator has communicated his appointment in relation to bank accounts held in the Company’s name
with RBC, Ansbacher and Deltec. On October 8, 2019, the Liquidator provided notice to the Banks to freeze
activity on the accounts. Based on our review, the balances of the accounts are as follows as at October 2,
2019:-

Intelisys
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Bank usb BSD GBP CHF EUR Total USD
(Converted)
Ansbacher 6,407 922 12,994 | 109,634 141,837
Deltec (3,941) 68,600 71,982
Royal Bank 63,550 63,550
Petty Cash 919 919
Total 2,466 64,469 922 12,994 | 178,234 278,288

The Liquidator has assumed control of the RBC accounts by revising the account and signatory information
and had the name on the accounts changed to “Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd. (in Voluntary Liquidation)”. All
funds at Ansbacher and Deltec will be deposited and combined with the RBC account balances under the

Liquidator’s control.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable includes Commissions and fees receivable, Due from Clients, and Other receivables.
The balance of Accounts Receivable as at October 2, 2019 provided by the Company is $1,397,450. The
Liquidator's preliminary review and inquiries have not provided a final account balance and have only
confirmed that the amount may be understated due to missing information. The Official Liquidator will need

to conduct further research and analysis.

Prepayments and deposits

The balance of Prepayments and deposits as at October 2, 2019 provided by the Company is $124,078. The

Official Liquidator is conducting a review to determine the prepaid amounts that can be returned to Company.
Other Assets

The other assets identified by the Liquidator as assets of the Company relate to office furniture and prints,
equipment, and computers. These assets were recorded in the Company’s accounting records as having a
balance of $62,598 as at October 2, 2019, however we understand adjustments are necessary. The
Liquidator's team prepared an updated Fixed Asset register with cost and estimated liquidation values. A
court application was made on October 28, 2019 and a court order obtained on the same date for the sale of
the office furniture and accessories. The successful sale of the entire furniture and equipment inventory took

place on October 30, 2019 for approximately $15,500.
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Assets under Custody

On October 8, 2019, the Liquidator wrote to approximately fourteen (14) financial institutions and companies

that held or currently hold assets on behalf of the Company for customers and clients.

The entities were notified of the voluntary liquidation and were instructed not to conduct transactions on the

Company’s account without the authorization of the Liquidator.
Premises and Records

The Liquidator determined that the ongoing costs of maintaining the office premises would significantly
increase the costs of the Liquidation and having regard to the strategy of the liquidation (as detailed further
below) maintaining the premises was not in the best interests of the estate. Therefore, the Liquidator and his
team took the necessary steps to vacate the office. All active client files and current Company documents
were scanned and placed on the Liquidator's computer system. All books and records, and office equipment,
including computers, servers and related equipment have been relocated either to the office of the Liquidator

or to a secure storage facility under the control of the Liquidator.

The Liquidator has written to all parties whom they believe may hold books and records of the Company
requesting copies of these records. The books and records of the Company also include electronic records
which are located on the Company’s computer server, which has been removed from the Company’s premises

and is being stored in a location under the control of the Liquidator.

It became clear, as the Liquidator and his team conducted their initial investigations, that the books and
records of the Company, and in particular, its accounting records were at least nine months in arrears. We
were provided with a listing of journal entries for eight months however, the entries had not been entered into
the Company’s accounting system. Furthermore, the Company had not issued audited financial statements
for the most recent year-ended December 31, 2018. The Company had sought a deadline extension from the
SCB and was waiting on critical NAV information to update its Commissions receivable and payable amounts

for the financial statements for year-ended December 31, 2018.
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We understand the Company'’s external auditors, Kikivarakis & Co., had begun the audit of the year-end 2018
financial statements and found missing information and errors i.e. management fees and commissions
payable, requiring adjustments. We were told the external auditors also had concerns about the solvency of
the Company. The Company was to revert to the auditors with updated financial information, including
solvency information, to complete the audit. On this basis, the Company sent a deadline extension request
for the filing of its 2018 financial statements to the SCB. We understand the Company did not revert to the
external auditor with updated financial statements/information before it was placed into voluntary liquidation

and as a result the audit for the year-ended December 31, 2018 has not been completed.

We have requested an interview with the external auditors and have provided a listing of questions and

requested documents. We await a response.

Ascertaining the contact details of the customers and beneficial owners of IBCs is now completed however a
significant amount of time has been spent by the Liquidator’s staff in this regard. Notices have been sent to
those customers whose contact details have been located although it is not evident from the records reviewed
to date whether such contact records are current. The accuracy of the contact information is of concern in
relation to those customers who gave hold mail instructions to the Company, notwithstanding that it is the

customer’s obligation to maintain contact and collect mail.

The Liquidator has undertaken an extensive exercise to update the ATRIUM-Finamic client accounting system
with all transactions and balances found on the custodian bank statements. Prior to our appointment the
Custodians were not communicating with the Company. The updating of the ATRIUM-Finamic client
accounting system has allowed the Liquidator and his team to conduct a reconciliation of the client accounting
data at the Company to the custodians’ data — a broker reconciliation process. The reconciliation exercise is

ongoing.
Application for Court Supervision

Immediately following his appointment, the Liquidator formed the opinion that it would be beneficial for the
liquidation of the Company to be placed under the supervision of the Court due to doubts regarding the

Company’s solvency. Further, this was the instruction of the SCB.

On October 24, 2019 the Voluntary Liquidator filed a Petition with the Court seeking an Order for the
supervision of this liquidation. On October 28, 2019 the matter was heard and an order was made on October
28, 2019 for the continuation of the liquidation under the supervision of the Court and for the appointment of

Edmund L. Rahming as the Official Liquidator of the Company. A copy of the Order is shown at Appendix 6.
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419 A Certificate of Insolvency was prepared by the Official Liquidator on November 27, 2019 and filed with the

Court. A copy was also provided to the Registrar of Companies.

Communication with Employees

420  As at the date of appointment of the Liquidator, the Company employed four (4) full time employees.

421  On October 2, 2019 (being the first working day of the Liquidators’ appointment), the Liquidator and his team
met with the staff of the Company and advised that their employment would be immediately terminated. The

Liquidator also prepared letters addressed to the former employees confirming their termination.

422  The Liquidator has re-employed two (2) of the former employees on a casual basis pursuant to the same
terms and conditions which they were employed by the Company to assist the Liquidator in understanding the

Company’s operations, and to assist in the reconciliation of the accounting records.
Communication with Directors

423  As at the date of appointment, the only active Director of the Company was Mr. Arturo Klein, managing
shareholder. The Liquidator engaged in a telephone conversation with Klein on October 23, 2019 to advise
him of a shareholders’ resolution for the supervision of the liquidation that would require his signature. On
November 11, 2019, the Liquidator and his team held an extensive interview with Klein to discuss the history
of the Company, the operations of the Company and its financial position. To date, Klein has assisted the
Liquidator by providing relevant information that will assist in the Official Liquidator’s further investigations of

the Company’s financial affairs.

424  Mr. Coughlin resigned as a Director on May 27, 2019. As at the date of this report the Liquidator has not
communicated with Mr. Coughlin as he was not a director at the time of the Liquidator’s appointment. The

Official Liquidator will be communicating with Mr. Coughlin in the near future.
Communication with Creditors and Customers

425  The Liquidator's preliminary review of the Company’s records regarding its customers reflected that
immediately accessible customer contact information is not readily available. In order to identify the customer
contact information the Liquidator and his team have to undertake a detailed review of the Company’s files
and records and ensure, so far as possible, that the information found is the most recent provided by the

customer. This review is now completed.

426  The following correspondence has been issued by the Liquidator and can be viewed on liquidation website:

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019 28



First Report of the Official Liquidator
4 Activities Upon and Since Appointment

4.27

4.28

4.29

4.30

Intelisys

No. | Date Title & Description

as VL and Consent to Act

1 October 4, 2019 General Letter to Service Providers/Vendors — Includes Notice of Appointment

2 October 8, 2019 Notification Letter to Banks — All Banks

3 October 8, 2019 Notification Letter to Fiduciaries — All Brokers and Private Banks

POD form included.

4 October 24, 2019 Circular to Customers and/or Clients as Addressed — General letter on VL and

Copy of Orders attached

5 November 11, 2019 | Notice of Supervision of Liquidation and Appointment of Official Liquidator —

6 November 22, 2019 | Notification to Creditors of the Postponement of the Creditors Meeting

7 December 9, 2019 Notification Letter to Registered Offices of IBCs

On October 4, 2019, the Liquidator wrote to each known trade creditor of the Company notifying them of his
appointment as Voluntary Liquidator and his Consent to Act and included a Proof of Debt form for creditors to

submit to the Liquidator in respect of their claim against the Company.

On October 24, 2019, the Liquidator distributed a circular to those customers whose contact details he had
located notifying them of his appointment and providing them with tentative notice of the First Meeting. This
notification also included a Proof of Debt form to be submitted to the Liquidator in respect of the funds invested
by the customers with the Company. On November 22, 2019, the Liquidator wrote to all creditors providing

Notice of the Postponement of the First Creditors and Customers Meeting.

On November 11, 2019, the Official Liquidator provided notice of the continuation of the liquidation under the

supervision of the Court and the appointment of himself as the Official Liquidator of the Company.

On November 28, 2019, the Official Liquidator wrote to all Registered Offices for the IBCs that held fiduciary
accounts at the Company. The letter was to ensure that no actions were taken by the Directors that might

adversely impact the fiduciary assets and to seek information on the beneficial owners of the IBCs.
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431  To facilitate communication between the Liquidator and stakeholders of the Company, the Liquidator has

established a website, www.pga-liquidation.com, where stakeholders can refer from time to time for updated

information in relation to the progress of the liquidation of the Company. An email address has also been
established to facilitate faster direct communication with the Liquidator and his team to address all questions

or comments the Creditors and Customers might have - pgaliquidation@intelisysltd.com. The Liquidator and

his team have also met with and spoken with creditors and customers at their request and continue to meet

with creditors and provide information where possible.

432  The Company’s website (www.pacifico-ltd.com) has been updated to reflect the appointment of the Liquidator.

Communication with the Securities Commission of the Bahamas and Financial Intelligence Unit

433  On September 19, 2019, the SCB wrote to Klein advising that pursuant to Sections 45(1) of the Securities
Industry Act and 49(1) of the Investment Funds Act, 2003, the SCB would conduct an on-site examination of

the operations of the Company commencing October 28, 2019.

434  On September 20, 2019, Klein wrote to Ms. Christina Rolle, Executive Director of the SCB, to ask the SCB to
select a liquidator for the Company and to advise of the Directors and Shareholders support in this effort. He
further advised of his immediate resignation as CEO of the Company and that COO was only engaged through
to September 30, 2019.

435  On October 3, 2019, Ms. Christina Rolle wrote to Klein approving the Company’s decision to voluntarily wind-
up its affairs subject to the winding up becoming supervised by the Court within fourteen (14) days of the
receipt of the letter. The SCB further advised of its selection of Edmund L. Rahming of Intelisys as the

Voluntary Liquidator of the Company. Mr. Rahming was copied on the letter.

436  On October 4, 2019, Mr. Rahming wrote the SCB providing executed copies of the notice of appointment,

consent to act, and shareholders’ resolution to place the Company into voluntary liquidation.

437  The Liquidator and his team are maintaining regular communication with the SCB and will continue to provide

it with updates regarding the progress of liquidation process.

438  The Official Liquidator wrote to the Financial Intelligence Unit on October 29, 2019 advising it of the liquidation
and that Ms. Vanasha Nadia Shearer-Butler, the Company’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer, was no

longer employed with the Company.

Intelisys
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Source of Information and Limitations

The Company'’s financial information contained herein is as at September 30, 2019, unless otherwise stated,

has been prepared using information obtained from the sources described in paragraphs 1.9 and 1.10 above.

The Liquidator reiterates he has not audited any of the information received and relies on this information for

the purposes of providing a summary position to creditors and customers of the Company.

At the date of appointment of the Liquidator the accounting records of the Company were at least nine months
in arrears and the veracity of that information has not yet been verified. The Liquidator has concerns that the

accounting records of the Company cannot be fully relied upon.

The Liquidator has maintained a schedule of receipts and disbursements related to the liquidation since

appointment. This schedule is shown at Appendix 7.

The Liquidator has maintained a listing of accrued and unpaid expenses for the period October 2, 2019 to

November 30, 2019. The listing is shown at Appendix 8.

Analysis of Assets and Liabilities

Cash at bank
As noted above the Liquidator has identified and assumed control of Cash at bank totalling B$278,288.

Accounts Receivable

The Accounts Receivable balance includes Commissions Receivable, Due from Clients, and Other
receivables. As at September 30, 2019 the balance for Commissions Receivable was $1,299,397.
Commissions Receivable represents charges by the Company to their customers and clients in respect of
services undertaken. The Company accrues these amounts as a book entry in the individual customer

accounts and these are deducted monthly from funds invested by the customer.

The Liquidator anticipates adjustments to the commissions receivable balance due to the ongoing broker

reconciliation exercise.
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The balance Due from Clients and Other receivables is approximately $100,000. The Official Liquidator is in

the process of reviewing the amounts making up this balance.

Prepayments and deposits

The balance of Prepayments and deposits as at October 2, 2019 provided by the Company is $124,078. The

Liquidator is conducting a review to determine whether the prepaid amounts that can be returned to Company.
Other Assets

The other assets identified by the Liquidator relate to office furniture, equipment, and computers. These
assets were recorded in the Company’s accounting records as having a balance of $62,598 as at October 2,
2019. The Liquidator's team prepared an updated Fixed Asset register with cost and estimated liquidation

values.

A Court application was made on October 28, 2019 and a Court order granted on the same date for the sale
of the office furniture. The successful sale of the entire furniture and equipment inventory at the Company

took place on October 30, 2019 and was at a sale price of $15,460.

Transfers and payments to Related Entities

Based on interviews with the director and staff and an initial review of records obtained by the Liquidator, the
Company paid substantial funds to and on behalf of parties directly associated with the Company. The
Liquidator has begun the review of these transactions and will provide an update at the First Creditors and

Customers meeting.
Liabilities

The Liabilities balance includes Commissions payable, Accrued expenses and Other liabilities. Based on a
review of the Company records, the Company recorded $1,015,037 in Commissions payable, Accrued
expenses and Other liabilities. The Liquidator has identified approximately $1M in Commissions payable and

approximately $200,000 in amounts due to trade creditors and a loan payable.

The Liquidator anticipates adjustments to Commissions payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities.
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In correspondence dated November 22, 2019, the Official Liquidator requested that creditors submit a Proof
of Debt form in respect of the amounts owing to them. This was requested early on to confirm the balances
on record at the Company. As at the date of this report, the Liquidator has received completed Proof of Debt

forms from only a few creditors.

We understand an RBC visa credit card and a Xaris Mastercard credit card were used for operating expenses
of the Company. These cards have now been cancelled. The Official Liquidator will review charges to these

credit cards over a defined period to determine the benefit to the Company.
Estimated Net Realisable Value

Based on the information available to the Official Liquidator as at the date of this report, there is insufficient

information available to provide a meaningful Estimated Net Realisable Value of the assets of the Company.
Preliminary Opinion of the Liquidator

Based on initial investigations undertaken to date, it appears that the Company’s assets were segregated
from the assets of clients and customers. The assets of clients and customers were placed in segregated
accounts in the Company’s name. The Liquidator and his team have been updating the client accounting
system and will undertake a confirmation exercise to ensure the account balances of clients and customers

are up-to-date and all asset holdings accounted for.

Commissions receivable and commissions payable amounts are being reviewed by the Liquidator and his
team. The Commissions receivable amount (includes custody and administration fees) is collectible and once
determined will be presented to the Receiver and sanctioned by the Court for approval and payment. The

Commissions payable amount is being reviewed and will be part of the claims adjudication process.
The Official Liquidator is currently determining the anticipated cash shortfall.

The Official Liquidator will review related party transfers in detail to determine whether these payments were

appropriate given the knowledge that the Company would shortly be insolvent.

The Official Liquidator will continue reviewing the financial position and actions taken by the Company to

determine whether there has been a breach of duty by the directors of the Company.
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At the date of appointment, the liquidator met three (3) categories of clients for whom the Company holds
assets in custody. The three (3) categories of clients affected are those with investment solely in the Sub-
Funds in Receivership (12); those with investment holdings independent of the Sub-Funds (44); and those

with dual investment holdings (70).

The Company operated a number of accounts with custodians in a number of jurisdictions including The

Bahamas, Antigua and Switzerland.

The Liquidator has written to fourteen (14) custodians. Eight (8) have confirmed account balances of which
four (4) have a zero balance and four (4) have balances. The other six (6) custodians do not maintain balances

based on the Company’s records. A listing of the custodians is shown at Appendix 9.

The Liquidator has been provided with information which shows that four (4) Custodians maintained accounts
on behalf of the Company as at the date of liquidation, and that the balance of these accounts as at September
30, 2019 was $74,880,861.

The Liquidator has concerns regarding the accuracy of the Company’s accounting records. Since the date of
their appointment, the Liquidator’s staff and those Company staff who were re-employed by the Liquidator
have been carrying out a broker reconciliation to update the client accounting records of the Company. This

exercise is ongoing as at the date of this report.

From a review of the Company’s accounting records there appear to be a number of client accounts which
hold a negative balance. The Official Liquidator and his team will be pursuing the negative balance

accountholders/debtors for the amounts owed to the Company.

On October 8, 2019, the Voluntary Liquidator wrote to all known custodians, who maintained accounts on
behalf of the Company to notify them of the appointment of the Voluntary Liquidator, to request that no more
activity take place on these accounts, and requesting information in relation to the assets held by the

custodians, including:-
(@) Balances of accounts in the name of the Company, including any cash and custodial accounts;

(b) Details on any security held for balances, including third party guarantees; and
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6.8

6.9

Intelisys

(c) Any pending and executed trades as at the date of the appointment of the Liquidator.

In some instances, the Custodians were slow to respond, but the majority of Custodians have now provided

the requested information to the Liquidator as detailed below.

The amount of funds held by Custodians as at September 30, 2019 as follows:

Market Value of Securities Net Cash Balance Total Value
(US$) (US$) (US$)
31,705,729 43,175,132 74,880,861

The Liquidator notes the discrepancies between the Custodians’ records of the holdings in the Company’s

name and the Company’s records and make the following comments in relation to their preliminary review

with the Custodians: -

a)

Valuation differences exist between the records of the Company and records of the Custodians. The

Liquidator has not yet taken steps to resolve these differences as at the date of this report.

Securities at Swissquote are reflecting an overstated position on monthly statements due to an error in
valuation calculation which occurred post transfers in April 2019. The Liquidator raised this issue with

Swissquote and is currently awaiting revised statements.
A number of the stocks held by Custodians are illiquid and may be difficult to sell.

There would appear to be limited or little documentation of instructions given by or communication with
customers. Customers of the company fall into the category of IBC’s and Individuals some of whom
would have appointed the Company as management advisor with power of attorney rights. At this time
the Official Liquidator is unable to determine if the Company abused those rights or acted within the best

interest of the client.

Given the inflated NAVs the potential for preferential treatment of investors exists. Those that have

redeemed their holdings early will have profited more than those who still have holdings in the Sub-Funds.

The customer asset holdings are held in Omnibus accounts between four Custodians. The accounting
for the holdings across the Custodian omnibus accounts is maintained within the company’s ATRIUM-
Finamic wealth management software. As previously stated, the system required updating as at
September 30, 2019. The Liquidator's team has been updating the ATRIUM-Finamic system and

conducting a broker reconciliation exercise. This exercise continues.
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6.10  The balance held in the Company’s Custodian omnibus accounts for clients and customers as at September
30, 2019 and October 31,2019 is as follows: -

Entity Total as at Sep. 30, Total as at Oct. 31, 2019
2019 (US$) (US$)
Swissquote 34,296,729 34,296,729
Credinvest 25,228,811 25,228,811
Deltec 15,323,255 2,082,651
NIB 32,067 32,067
Total 74,880,861 61,640,257
Balance related to Sub-Funds 67,446,130 55,312,967

6.11  The Liquidator believes that further financial and legal analysis is required to determine the amounts owed to

customers and the amounts owed by customers to the estate due to early redemptions.

Intelisys
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7 Conclusion
7 Conclusion
7.1 Whilst significant work has been undertaken to date by the Liquidator, the liquidation is still at an early stage.

7.2

7.3

The Official Liquidator’s focus since his appointment has been identifying the precise causes of the Company’s
failure and the specific factors leading to the liquidation of the Company. This information is documented in
the Background section of this report. The Liquidator has also worked on identifying and safeguarding the
assets held by the Company, taking control of all Company records, and interviewing the Company’s director

and current and former staff.

The Official Liquidator believes that further financial and legal analysis is required to determine the financial
position of the Company vis-a-vis the Sub-Funds, what improprieties (if any) occurred, what potential claims
(if any) the Company has and should pursue, and the amounts held for or owed to customers. The Official
Liquidator intends to recommend to the creditors and customers at the first meeting several strategies/road

maps for conducting and concluding the liquidation.

In light of the further work which will be required, it is too early to predict the likely eventual return to customers
and creditors although this should be clearer upon the completion of the proposed road map. The Official
Liquidator will, of course, keep all customers and creditors informed of any significant developments in this
regard and in relation to any and all applications to the Court, and all inquiries from any governmental bodies
or other third parties, all reasonable steps will be taken to protect the confidentiality of all customer information

under the Official Liquidator’s control.

Dated December 16, 2019

Edmund Rahming

Intelisys

Intelisys
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1 - Resolutions to appoint Voluntary Liquidator and for liquidation to be continued under the supervision of The Supreme
Court of The Bahamas

PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.
WRITTEN RESOLUTION OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

We, being ali of the shareholders of Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd. (“the Company”), a Company incorparated and
operating under the laws of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas do hersby waive all notice of time, place or purpose

of a meeting and consent to, approve and adopt the following resolution pursuant to the Company’s Articies of
Association on the 2™ day of October A.D. 2019;

IT IS RESOLVED THAT:

1) That, in accordance with the Companies Act and the Articles the Company be voluntarily wound up and that Edmund L.
Rahming of INTELISYS, 2 Caves Professional Center, Caves Village, West Bay Street & Blake Road, P.O. Box SP-

84064, Nassau, Bahamas be appointed as Voluntary Liquidator with the power to act for the purpose of winding up the
affairs of the Company.

2) That the Voluntary Liquidator's remuneration be calculated on a time cost basis and be paid from any assets available

in the winding up of the estate in accordance with the Companies Winding Up Rules 2011 and in accordance with the
engagement and indemnity letters dated October 2*¢ October, 2018,

Dated the 2* day of October A.D. 2018

Valora Investments Ltd. umér. Arturo Klein
Member:

By its authorized signatory

Intelisys
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD, (in Voluntary Liquidation)
WRITTEN RESOLUTION OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

We, baing &l of the sharehoiders of PaciﬁooGobaIAﬂv‘aonL&t(hvwrury Liguidation){"the Company’), a Company
incorporated and operating under the aws of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas do hereby waive all notice of time,
place or purpasa of a meeting and consent to, approve and adopt the folowing resolutions pursuant to the Company's
Artices of Assaciation on this 22 day of Octobar A.D, 2019;

IT IS RESOLVED THAT:

1) The shareholders unanimousfy consent to the voluntary Fquidation being put under the supervision of the
Supreme Court of The Bahamas.

2) The shereholders unanimously consent to Edmund Rahming of INTELISYS, 2 Cavas Professicnal Canter,
Caves Vilage, West Bay Sveat & Blake Road, P.O, Box SP-84084, Nassau, The Bahamas being appointed
as Official Liguidator of the Company with the power fo act as directed by the Supreme Court of The Bahamas,

Dated the 22 day of October A.D. 2019

i

-

Member: Valora Investments Ltd. llm{or: Arturo Klein
By Its authorized signatory

Intelisys
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2 — Certificate of Incorporation

Commonswsalh of The Rahamas

THE COMPANIES ACT 1992

I, JACINDA P. BUTLER, Registrar General for The Commonwealth of The Bahamq‘zﬁs AU e
‘y 3
do hereby certify that a Memorandum of Association of ”'"'"‘

P, 3
has this day been registered in my office under the provisions of the Companies Act 1992. Whereby

the said Parties have become and are an incorporated Company under the name and st yle of

PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISQORS LTD,
And I further certify that the Liability of the said Company is Limited.

Given under my hand and seal of office at the City of Nassau the 30th day of Scptember, 2011.
P Given under my hand and seal

At Nassau in the Commonwealth
of The Bahamas.
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3 — License Certificates

Intelisys

SIA-F113

*SECURITIES COMMISSION OF THE BAHAMAS
CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION

Pursuant to Part VI Section 69{1) of the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and Part VI of the Securities
Industry Regulations, 2012,

Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd.
(Previously licenced under Section 22 of the Securities Industry Act, 1998 on the 4" day of May, 2010)
is hereby registered as a Firm

Managing Securities

to carry on securities activities in and from the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, subject to the terms
and conditions specified in the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and the Securifies Industry Regulations,
2012,

Effective this 30™ day of December, 2011

Signed:_ e

Executive Director

As at November 30, 2019
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SIA-F113-13

SECURITIES COMMISSION OF THE BAHAMAS

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION

Pursuant to Part VI, Section 89(4) of the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and Part VI of the
Securities Industry Regulation, 2012

Daren Charles Seymour
is hereby registered as
Trading Representative
. Advising Representative
Discretionary Management Representative
with
Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd.
to carry on securities activities in and from the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, subject to the

terms and conditions specified in the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and th iti
e ot ry Act, e Securities Industry

Effective this 17" day of July, 2019

Signed: _%

Executive Director

SIA-F113

e SECURITIES COMMISSION OF THE BAHAMAS
CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION

Pursuant to Part VI Section 69(1) of the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and Part VI of the Securities
Industry Regulations, 2012.

Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd.

(Previously licenced under Section 22 of the Securities Industry Act, 1999 on the 4" day of May, 2010)
is hereby registered as a Firm
Managing Securities (as at 30" day of December, 2011)
Dealing as Agent or Principal
Arranging Deals in Securities
Advising on Securities
to carry on securities activities in and from the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, subject to the terms
and conditions specified in the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and the Securities Industry Regulations,
2012.
Effective this 11" day of September, 2015

Signed: %

Executive Director

As at November 30, 2019
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SIA-F113-09

=% SECURITIES COMMISSION OF THE BAHAMAS

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION
Pursuant to Regulation 40(1) of the Securities Industry Regulation, 2012
Arturo Klein

is hereby registered as
Chief Executive Officer
with
Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd.

to carry on securities activities in and from the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, subject to the
terms and conditions specified in the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and the Securities Industry
Regulations, 2012.

Effective this 14" day of March, 2018

CUghds

Executive Director

Signed:

SIA-F113-11

SECURITIES COMMISSION OF THE BAHAMAS
CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION
Pursuant fo Regulation 40(2) of the Securities Industry Regulation, 2012

Vanasha Nadia Butler
is hereby registered as
Compliance Officer

with
Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd.

to carry on secqrjties activities in and from the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, subject to the
terms and conditions specified in the Securities Industry Act, 2011 and the Securities Industry
Regulations, 2012.

Effective this 3™ day of September, 2018

Signed: C’&'—)l&g

Executive Director

Intelisys
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Pacifico

Global

PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS FEE SCHEDULE OF BANKING SERVICES

Pricing and Services Standard

All In

ACCOUNTS
Account closing uUsD 2,500.00

*Accounts Closed within twelve months of being opened will be charged a closing fee of USD 3,000.00.
In the event the client's account become inactive or dormant, the official fee schedule of PGA will
continue to apply. In addition PGA will charge the client the cost of investigations for the special
treatment and monitoring of inactive and dormant accounts.

ACCOUNT RELATIONSHIP REQUIREMENTS

cash with PGA. Sufficient cash must be maintained on all accounts at all times to cover four quarters
of Management and Custody fees.

CUSTODY FEES
Custody fees p.a 0.75%
minimum per annum per portfolio USD 3,000.00

The Custody fees includes the account maintenance and custody services (charges for safekeeping,
account statements, booking expenses, capital payments and coupon collections. It will be debited
quarterly based on the total gross assets of the portfolio.

TRANSACTION BASED FEES

Third party Commission will be applied in addition to the Transaction Based fees. Duties and charges
(such as stamp duty, stock exchange charges or charges (levied by a fund) are not included in the
fees and will be charged separately without any surcharges.

SECURITIES AND MONEY MARKET

Bonds nin: USD 250 0.60%
Equities nin: USD 300 0.80%
Options nin: USD 250 100.00
MM Funds nin: USD 250 0.30%
Bond Funds nin: USD 250 0.60%
Structured Products nin: USD 250 0.60%
Equity Funds nin: USD 300 0.80%
Balanced funds nin: USD 250 0.70%
Hedge Funds nin: USD 600 1.00%
Fiduciary Deposits 0.20%
FOREX

USD 0-10,000 on purchases and sales 1.50%
USD 10,000 - 50,000 on purchases and sales 0.75%
above 0.50%
TRANSFERS

Securities transfer in USD 100
Securities transfer out USD 200

PAYMENTS ORDERS

Internal Transfers free
Up to 49'999 USD 100
Up to 50'000 to 99'999 USD 150
Up to 100'000 to 499'999 uUsD 200
More than 500'000 USD 250

CONFIRMATIONS AND OTHER SERVICES

Bank reference letters USD 250
Audit confirmations/legal USD 250
USD 250/hour

(min fee USD

Tax documentation 500.00)
Couriers UsD 100
Swift confirmations uUsbD 75
Documentation preparation USD 250/hour

CONCEIRGE SERVICES
A charge based on time spent will be required for all services offered at the request of the client
Other Fees

Cancellations, corrections, reimbursements of duplicated payments and queries regarding
executed payment orders will be charged based on costs. Other fees charged by third party banks
that are not covered by our expenses may be subsequently charged.

PGA reserves the right to change its fees and services at any time without prior notice.
Only the most important fees are given here.

Effective July 1, 2019

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019

uUsD 2,500.00

1.00%
USD 4,500.00

0.60%
0.80%
100.00
0.30%
0.60%
0.60%
0.80%
0.70%
1.00%
0.20%

1.50%
0.75%
0.50%

USD 100
USD 200

free
USD 100
uUsD 150
uUsD 200
USD 250

uUsD 250

USD 250

USD 250/hour
(min fee USD
500.00)

uUsD 100

UsSD 75

USD 250/hour
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5 - Audited Financial Statements as at December 31, 2017 and Draft Unaudited Financial Schedule showing December
31,2018 results

PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LIMITED

Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2017
And Independent Auditors’ Report

PACIFICO GLOEBAL ADVISORS LTD.

Table of Contents

Page
Independent Auditors” Report 1-2
Statement of Financial Position 3
Statement of Profit And Loss And Other Comprehensive Income 4
Statement of Changes In Equity 3
Statement of Cash Flows [
Motes to Financial Statements T7-13
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Kikivarakis(&)Co.

010 Conai Proferiional Contae « Caver Vilags, West Ly Syem
PO Sax SP&A11) - Navas, Dutarae
Nabt «) 01 2270080 Fac«t DND N7 0000

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Sharcholder of Pacifion Global Adyisors Lid:

Opimion

We have audited the accomganying financial statements of Pocifico Global Advisoes Lid {the
‘Company™), which comprise the sasement of financial position as at Decenber 31. 2017. and the
statement of compeehensive income. saatement of changes in equity and statement of cash ows for
the year then ended. und notes 1o the Financial statements. including a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatocy modes

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly. in all material respects, the financial positian of
the Company as at December 31, 2017, and s Ninancial performance and its cash Mlows for the year
Ihen ended in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Oplnion

We conducted our audit i secondance with Internartional Standasds on Auditing. Our responsibilities
under those standands are further deseribed in the Anditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Stateenents section of our report. We are wdependent of the Company in accordance with
he Intermational  Exthis Standards Board for Accountamts Code of Ethics for Professsonal
Accauntamts (IESBA Code), and we have fultilled our cther ethical responsibilitics in accordance
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe thut the awdir evidence we have obigined is
sufficient and approgirisie o provide 2 hasis foe our apenion

Responsibilities of Mamugement and Those Charged with Gowrnence for the Finoncial
Statemernes

Management is responsible for the preparsition and fair presentotion of these linancial staements in
accordunce with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such intermal comtral ns
management determines is necessary 1o enable the prepssation of financial statements that are free
rom matereal misstatement, whether dus 1o frand o error.

In preparing the financiol stateienis, MENAEEMENt i respoesible for assessing the Company's ability
10 contines: as o posng cancem, disclasing. as applicable, matiers related 1o going cancem and using
the going concern basis of aocounting unless managemen either intends to liquidaie the Company or
10 cease operations, of hues no nealistic 2hernative bt 1o do sy

Those charged with governance are respoesible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process

Financial Advisory & Consulting Serv
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Awditors* Responsibilley for the Audit of the Financiel Statenrents

Our objectives ure 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due 10 frad or error, and 10 ssue an auditoe’s report
that includes our opinkon. Reasorable assurance 15 o high level of assurance. bul 15 not @ guarantee
that an awdit conducted in accordance with [ntemational Standands on Auditing will always detect 3
material misstatement when it exists, Misstatemets ¢an arise from fraud or erroe and are considered
material if, individunlly or in the aggregate, they could reasomably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an awdit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. we exercise professional
Judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughoat the andit, We also—

Identify and assess the risks of material misssatement of the linancial statements, whether due
1o frmwd or evor; design and perform sudit procedures responsive to those risks; and obeain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
noe detecting o material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as  frad  may  involve  collusion,  forgery. intentional  omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control,

Obeain an understanding of internal control relevant 1o the audit in order o design sudit
procedures s are appeopriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expeessing an
opinian on the effectiveness of the Company s intermal control,

Evaluate the appropristeness of accounting policies used amd the ressonableness of
accounting estimates ard related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropestencss of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence oblained. whether 2 material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability 1o
continue as a going concem, If we conclude thal a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw sttention in our auditor’s repoet to the related disclosures in the financial
statements o, if such disclosunes are inadequate, to modify our opinion, Our corclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our awditor's report. However. future
events or conditions may cause the Company 1o cease 1o continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation. structure, and content of’ the financial statements, including
the dischosures, and whether the financinl statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in 8 manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significam deficiencies in
internal control that we sdentify during our audit.

——KIL\MUS -“ ("o.

Nassau, Bahomas
May 15,2018

Intelisys
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 1)
Accounts recenable (Notes 4 and 9)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Investments (Note 5)
Propeny. plant and equipment (Noee &)

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Accrued expenses and other Rabdities (Notes 7 arxd 9)
Total Liabilities
EQUITY:
Share capital
Contribened surphus
Retamed carnings (Notes 9 and 1)
Total equiky

Total Liabilities and Sharcholder's Equity

See nccompanying notes 1o the financial staements,

These financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors on May 15. 2018,

o f
R Ll

As at November 30, 2019

2017 2016
S 682596 § 403784
1 988,688 1137452
S4650 26,089
159332 153337
82272 69,065
S_2927,538 S 1,790,627
S 2192210 § 1219584
2192210 1219584
25,000 25,000
495,100 495,100
215228 0,943
735328 5714043
S 2927838 S 1,7N,627
e

Dlncmr/
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

INCOME
Fee mcome (Notes 8 and 9)
Other come
Imerest income
Uneealised gain on investments

l'otal income

EXPENSES
Commissions (Note 9)
Managing Director’s fees (Note )
Salares and emphoyee benefils (Note 9)
Professional and kegal fees
Custoddian fees
Travel and entertarment
Rent and utilities
Repairs and maintenance
License and permies
Bank interest and servie charges
Foreign exchange kss
Insurarce
MTxce supples and equipment
Depreciation (Note 6)
Miscellaneous expenses

Total expenses

NET AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

As at November 30, 2019

2017 2016
$  BW3TS2 §  TI23A23
2740 126,000
9520 1371
5995 29840
9217.017 7290534
6073658 4612000
1032077 996,593
540,524 510389
376,329 329943
359,008 136727
91,336 59.034
20231 63224
69378 51,744
63607 26,100
36094 32310
17.202 54,440
25707 23941
22,144 29,208
15437 13963
- 73
8302.732 6,959,779
S 4142885 § 331,088

**
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

(Accumukated
deficity
Numberof Share Contributed  retained
Shares  Capitnl  Surplas carmings Total

Hakince as al December 31, 2015 B0 S B00 S IS0 0§ (2830,012) S 2088
Net und el comprehensive incoen - - - 131,055 331055
Baknce as ot December 31, 2016 1500 2500 295100 50M3 § STI043
Divadends dechired and pad (Note 10) . . - (2500000) $ (250000)
Net and total comprehensive income - - - 414285 414285
Balance as at December 31,2017 2.500. w‘ S 495100 8 2185228 $735,328

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

As at November 30, 2019
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net and total comprehensive mcome
Adpstments foe ilems not efTecting cashe
Unrealised gan
Depreciation expense
Cash provided by operntions betare
changes in operating assels and Fabiites
Changes in operating assets amnd leabilities
Increase in accounts receivable
Incresse in accounts payvablke
{Increase Mdecrease m prepaid experses
Net cash provided by ope rating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Purchase of propeny, plant and egquipmen
Net cash used in investing activity
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
Dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activity

Netinerease in cash and cash equivale nts

Cash and cash cquivalents, beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

See accompanying notes 1o the financial staements,

As at November 30, 2019

2017 2016

$ 414285 § 331055
(3.995) (29.840)

15437 13963

423,727 JIS 078
(831.236) 1612976)

972626 478724

(28561 31587

S16.556 212513
(27.744) (6AS0
(27.744) (6A80)

{ 25000000 .

(2500000 =

238812 206,033

03,784 197,751

S 642,596 S 403,784
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

1. GENERAL

Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd. (the “Company™} was incorporated under the laws of The
Commoawenlth of The Babamas on September 30, 2011, The principal business activity of the
Company includes managing securitics, dealing & agemt or principal, arranging deals in
securities and advising on sccurtics, Effective September 11, 2015 the Company received its
Broker dealer license,

The regissered office of the Company is Lenon Paton Corporate Services. 3 Bayside Executive
Park, West Bay Street, Nassau, N.P., Babamas, The Company’s principal place of business is
RoyalStar House, John F. Kennedy Drive, Nassau, N.P.. Bahamas with its postal address being
SS-19371.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accouming policies applied in the preparation of these financinl statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated,

) Staterment of compllonce

These financial statements are prepared in accondance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and interpretations adopted by the Intemational Accounting Standards
Baard (IASB).

) Baxis of messurement
These lmancial statements ave been peepared under the histarical cost basis,
¢)  Forelgn currency trawslation
All amounts i the financsal stalements are expressed in United States dollars, the

Company’s functional and reporting currency. Foeeign cusrency assets and liabilities have
been transisted into United States dollaes ot the rtes of exchange ruling at year end,

Transactions denominated in forcign currencies have been translated into United States
dollars using rates of exchange a1 the dste of the transaction. Al resulting exchange
differences are recorded in et income in the statement of profit and kss and other
comprehensive income, The basis for transkation of Bahamian dollars into United States
dollars is at par.

i) Revemue Recogmition

Revenue is recognized 1o the extent that it is probable that the economic bepefits will Now
to the Company amnd the revenue can be reliably measured.

Intelisys
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¢)  Use of esthmmies and Judgements
‘IThe preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management o
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the applxation of sccounting
policies and the reported amounts on assets, liabilities, income and expenses, Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

Estimates ard underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions w
accouming estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in
any future period affected.

Financial instramenis - A financial instrument is any contract that gives nise 1 both &

financial asset of one enterprise and a fnancisl labiliy or eguity of anotler enterprise.

e

)

fil)

fivi

Classificartion

Financial instraments include financial assets and fimancial labilitses. Fisancial assels
that are chassified as loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through peofit or loss
inchude acerued expenses and other labilities.

Recagmirion

The Company recognizes fisancial instruments on the day they become a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments,

Mvaovarvmsens

Financial mstruments are measured instially at fair value (transaction peice) phus, in the
case of a financial asset or financial lizhility not at fair value through profit or loss,
Iransaction costs that are directly attrsbutable to the acquisition or issue of the linancial
asset or financial liability, Transaction costs on financial assets and fnancial lishilities
at Fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately, while on other linancial
instruments they are amortised.

Subsequent 1o initial recognition financial assets classified as loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest mte method, less Impairment
losses, il any.

Financinl assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are carried at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized in net income in the statement of profit and loss
and ather comprehensive income.

Financial labilities, other than those at fair value through peofit or loss, are measured
at amodtised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Dervcognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when they transfer the rights to receive the contractual
cash flows in & trarsaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assel are trunsterred, or when they neither transfer nor
retain substangiolly all of the risks and rewards of ownership and do not retain control
over the transferred assel. Any interest in such derccognised financial assets that is
created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate nsset ar Hability.

The Compuny derecognises a financial liability when their contractual obligations are
discharged or cancelled. or expired,

As at November 30, 2019
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&

)

i)

ki

0

(v Disclosures periaining Jo fair vatues ov finenciol instyamens
The Company measures lair values using the following fair value hicrarchy:

o Level D Quoted market poce (unadjusied) in an active market for an identical
instrument,

e Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments not traded i an active market is
determined by using valuation technigues. The fair value of the financial
instruments within this category haye been estimated using the presemt valoe
method. The Company bas no financial instruments categorized at this level.

o Level 2: Valuation sechnigues using significant unocbservable inputs, This category
includes all instruments where the valustion sechnigue includes inputs not based
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a signifscant effect on the
instruments valustion. This category includes instruments that are valued based on
quoted prices foe similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments
or assumptions are nequired to rellect differences between the instruments. The
Company bas no financial instruments catogocrred ot this level.

Cash and cash equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents are carried t cost in the statement of
financial pasition
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are compeised of

cash on harnd. bank cumrent account and fixed deposit with original matarity of three (3)
months oe less.

Acconnss receivable - Accounts receivable are stated at cost. less an allowance for bad debes
Bad debis are wratten ol when identified.

Tnvestments - Investmems are carried at fair value in the statement ol finuncial position.
Interest income, changes in market value oe gxins and Josses on sales are recognized in the
stasement of profic and loss and other comprebensive income.

Property, plant and equipment - Propeny plant and equipment are stated ot cost less
accumulated depreciation and, if appeopeiase, impairment kosses. Expenditure is capitalized
only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the property and equipment.
All other expenditure s recognised in the statemens of profit amd koss snd other
comprehensive income as an expense as incurred,  Deprecistion is changed to the statement
of profit and loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Furniture and equipment 10 years

Compuser system 3 years

Any realized gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment ane taken Lo the
santernent of profil or loss and other comprehensive income in the yvear in which they oceur.

Impairment of Financiol Avsety - An sssessment is made ot cach statement of fisancial
position date o determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset may be
impaired. If such evidence exists, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 10 its estimated
recoverable amount either directly or theough the use of an allwance accounm and the
amount of the loss is included in the statement of profit and Joss and other comprehensive
incame. No such allowances have been recorded at December 31, 2017,

Assets under management - Fiduciary accounts and sssets of customers are not included in
these financial statements as they are not assets of the Company,

9

As at November 30, 2019
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m) Related Party « A party & related to the Company il directly. or mdirectly, through one or
more insermedianies, the party:

+ Contrals, is contralied by, or is under common control with, the Company;
fi. Has an Interest in the Company that gives it significant influence over the Company:
i, 1s a member of the key management persannel, including directoes and officers of the
Company and sharcholders;
v, s an entity that is contralled. jointly controlled or sigmificantly influenced by, or for
which signilicant viting power in such entities resides with, directly or indirectly, any
ndividual relerred 1o above.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivabents consist of the following:

2017 2016
Current sccounts s (32548 S 393742
Term deposit 10048 10042

S 642,596 S 403,754

Included in cash and cash equivalents is $72.548 (2016: $10.042) which is pledged as security
for corporate credit cards,

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consists of the following:

2017 2016
Commssions and fees receivable s 1923458 § 1110545
Do Troem chents 8041 6,616
Mher 17093 20271

S 1988688 S 1,137,452

5. INVESTMENTS

Investments consist of the following:
2017 2018

Cost Market Cost Market

Anghogold Holfings PLC 5.125% Dee Aupst |22 8 40800 §  523%0 S 4940 § 50012
TeMobde USA Inc. 0375% Due March |, M05 40905 §i2% 49925 53250
Tramaocean Inc. 6373 Due December 15 2001 AS805 b1 45805 50075

§ 14535 S 159551 S 145330 S 153307

10

Intelisys
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Propery, plant and equipment consisd of the Talkeaang:

Coat
Az of 31 December 2005

Addimns
Axof 3 December 200 6

Additiors

Asaof 3] December 2007

Accamulated De preciation

As of 31 December 2015
[pricatiom expense for the year

A al 31 December 016
[reprecmuiom expense for the yoar

A al’ 31 December 2017

Med book valee:

As of 31 December 2016

As of 51 December 20017

Furniture &

Computer

ACCRUED EXPEMNSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Aecrued expenses and other liobilities consist of the following:

Comimiksions payabk
Oithay

FEE INCOME

Fee income consists of the following:

hManagement Fees - Furds
Reetrocessions
Management Fees - Clenis
Brakernge

Cusnoddy

As at November 30, 2019

Equipme mt Sastems i

¥ Tz % 130 % W423

ARl - Ral]

TR L R R

25283 2461 27.744

] IZ9ES § X662 % I 24 6d?
O

3 G574 3 G401 § 11975

TAAE 40K 135963

Ll 137 | 80| L e ]

B gl | 13437

3 LTt § 19612 3 42375

5 63,5658 35 g d(l 5 i, i 8

5 B22X S Lok 5 #2171

2017 21

& 1LEH244 % 1123, 147

30 S0 W ATT

5 192200 5§  1,219.584

Fo g 2016

3 446THH 5 1034363

| 3218955 2338

1271619 3,158,929

[.218,7Hs 551.851

113,759 Sl il 2

5 8993751 5 7.113.613
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9,

10.

11

12.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
The Company hax the following related party balances and transsctions:

2017 2016

Balances:

Accounts recenable s 1@27&3 S 143271

Accrued expenses and other Rabelitics S 1,069,589 S RBI4 418
Transactiony:

Retamed Earmirgss - Dividends S 250,040 S -

Fee Income $ 4467634 S 1034363

Commissios $ 3355986 S§ 2853379

Manageg Director's fees and expenses $ _L032.077 S 996593

Key management compensation §$ 320574 S 270,000
DIVIDEND

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company declared and
pasd a dividend of $250,000 (2016: SNIL).

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Assets managed by the Company in o fiduciary capacity as of December 31, 2017 toealled
S314.074.348 (2016: $333,TIS381).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company bas exposure 0 various lypes of risks from their use of financial instruments, The
maost impoatant types of linancial risk to which the Company is exposed are credis risk, Hquidity
risk and currency risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the repocting date and the risk
management policics employed by the Company are discussed below,

Credit risk

Credit rsk is the risk that & counterparty to a financial instrument will fail W dischange an
obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Company. The Company’s exposure
o credit risk is pomarily concentrated with its cash and cash cquivalents, commissions
receivable and investment balances.  With respect 10 its cash and cash equivalents and

commission receivable balances the Company mitigates this risk as the balances 2re held with oe
due from credit worthy financial institutions,

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
urising from their financial liabilities, The Compsny’s approach to managing liguidity is o
ensure, as lar as possible, that the maturity of its financial assets coincide with the maturities of

its financsal lisbilities. Specifically, the semtlement of i1s commissions payable is linked and
conditional on receipt of its associated fees,

As at November 30, 2019
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13.

1‘-

This risk & pot considered 10 be significam, as the Company maintains sdequate cash and
commission receivable balances with short term maturitics 1o meet commissions payable and
other abligations as they arise.

All of the Company s Habilites at December 31, 2017 are payable within one year.

Currency Risk

The Company is expesed to currency risk on balances and transactions that are denominated in
forcign currencies. The Company manages this risk by utilizing funds received in a forcign
currency to setthe commission and expenses in that currency. The objective of cumrency nisk
management is to manage and control foreign currency risk expasures within accepeable
parameters. while optimizing the retum oa risk,

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Due to the short-term nature of the majority of the Companies financial assets and liabilities,
their fair values are estimated o approximate their carrying values at the reporting date.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base 50 a5 1o sustain future development of
the business. There were no changes in the Company’s approach 10 capital management during

the year.
LR B

As at November 30, 2019
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Draft Financial Schedule showing December 31, 2018 results

Intelisys

Pyd 0
]

ASSETS

Cash and @sh equivalents

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and deposts

Property, plant and equpment
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES

Accrued exponses and other liabllities
Total Usbiities
EQuity

Share capital

Contributed surplus

Retamed earnings
Total Equity

Total Liabitities and Sharcholder's Equity

Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd.

As at November 30, 2019

BALANCE SHEET
Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19

670,562 654 529 568,566 470,921 244,073
958,050 1,262,700 1,390,985 1,295,207 (1,397,450

128,981 132,659 127,511 125,754 124078

10467 67,516 64,568 63,581 62,5598

1,826,460 2,117,404 2,151,625 1,955,503 1,828,199

—

£45,409 1,039 049 1,052,607 1,006,658 1,015,037

£85,409 1,039,049 1,052,607 1,006,688 1,015,037

25,000 15,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

545,100 545,100 545,100 545,100 545,100

372,951 508,256 528,91¢ 378,715 243 062

943,051 1,078 356 1,009,019 048 815 813,162

1,828,460 2,117,404 2,151,626 1,955,503 1,828,199

—_—
2019
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Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19
Year-to-date 12 months Q12019 Q22019 (7 months) (8 months)
INCOME
Fee income 5,398,690 1,154,053 1,911,715 2,004,056 2,105,351
Other income 232,418 67,000 67,000 67,000 67,000
Interest income 2,705 - 13,908 13,908 13,908
Unrealized gain on investments . - - -
Total income 5,633,813 1,221,053 1,992,623 2,084,964 2,186,259
EXPENSES
Commissions 1,272,932 225,263 217,389 221,837 221,837
Custodian fees 198,070 10,260 15,535 15,535 15,535
Managing Director’s fees 1,867,503 302,029 603,110 704,102 899,720
Salaries and employee benefits 356,787 114,440 215,346 247,263 239,803 %
Professional and legal fees 256,509 31,158 33,688 38213 87,633
Other Qperating Costs 1,524,290 402,597 751,585 852,249 851,619
Total expenses 5,476,090 1,085,747 1,836,653 2,079,198 2,316,147
NET INCOME / (LOSS) 157,723 135,306 155,970 5,766 (129,888)
Pacifico Global Advisors Ltd 2019
Intelisys

As at November 30, 2019



First Report of the Official Liquidator
8 Appendix

6 — Supervision Order

SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE BAHAMAS NOV 0§ 2019

COMMERCIAL DIVISION Nassau, Bahamasg
CAUSE NO. COM/bnk/00077 OF 2019
IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1992, CH. 308

AND IN THE MATTER OF PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

SUPERVISION ORDER

BEFORE the Honourable Mr. Justice lan Winder, Judge of the Supreme Court,
in Chambers,

UPON HEARING Mrs, Simone Morgan-Gomez, Mrs. Courtney Pearce-Hanna
and Ms, Philisea Bethel Counsel for Mr, Edmund Rahming of INTELISYS, 2 Caves
Professional Center, Caves Village, West Bay Street & Blake Road, Nassau, The Bahamas
(“Voluntary Liquidator™) upon his petition for an order that the liquidation of Pacifico
Global Advisors Ltd, (*the Company™) continue under the supervision of the Court and
Messrs. Gawaine Ward and Gladstone Brown of the Securities Commission of The
Bahamas.

AND UPON READING the following documents: Winding Up Petition dated 23"
October 2019 and filed herein on 24" October 2019; Summons for Directions dated 23"
October 2019 and filed herein on 4® October 2019: First Affidavit of Edmund Rahming:
in Support of Winding Up Petition sworn 23" October 2019 and filed herein on 24

October 2019; Sccond Affidavit of Edmund Rahming: Regarding Accepiance of

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019
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Appointment as Official Liquidator swom 23 October 2019 and filed herein on 24"

October 2019 and Centificate of Urgency dated 24" October 2019 and filed herein on 25"

October 2019,

AND UPON THE COURT BEING SATISFIED that the Voluntary Liguidator

15 a qualified insolvency praclitioner.

IT IS HERERY ORDERED THAT:

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019

1. The liquidation of the Company be continued under the supervision of the
Court,

2 The commencement date of the lignidation herein is 2™ October 2019.

3. Mr. Edmund Rahming, Chartered Accountant and Managing Director in the
socountancy and asset recovery services company of Intelisys Ltd., situate at 2
Caves Professional Center, Caves Village, West Bay Street & Blake Road, Massau,
The Bahamas be appointed as the Official Ligquidator of the Company.

4. The company INTELISYS of 2 Caves Professional Center, Caves Village,
West Bay Street & Blake Road, Massau, The Bahamas be appointed to provide back
office support services to the Company.

5, The law firm of Callenders & Co, of Mo.] Millars Court, Massau, The
Bahamas be appointed to provide which will provide general counsel legal services.
. All costs incurred by Mr. Rahming and his advisors to date shall be costs in

the liquidation.
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7. The Official Liquidator of the Company has liberty to apply,
DATED the 28" day of October, A.D., 2019.
FILED thcéf day of November, A.D., 2019,
BY ORDER OF THE COURT
REGISTRAR
This Order was filed by CALLENDERS & CO., of No. | Millars Court, Nassau, N.P.
Attorneys for the Official Liquidator.
3|Pa

Intelisys

As at November 30, 2019
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

BAHAMAS

COMMERCIAL DIVISION

IN THE MATTER OF THE
COMPANIES ACT, 1992, CH. 308

AND IN THE MATTER OF PACIFICO
GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.

SUPERVISION ORDER

2019

COM/bnk/000O77

'S
Couizesmi Lo
N PGRRs &ZCO.
Chambers
One Millars Court
Nassau, N.P., The Bahamas

Attorneys for the Official Liquidator

SAM-G/PB2SO78.0M1
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7 — Receipts & Disbursements Schedule

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019
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PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD (IN OFFICIAL LIQUIDATION)
STATEMENT OF LIQUIDATOR'S RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 2 OCTOBER 2019 THRU 30 NOVEMBER 2019

Expressed in Bahamian Dollars (BSD)

OPENING CASH BALANCE - 02/10/2019 275,085
RECEIPTS
Collection of Receivables 27,201
Proceeds from sale of Assets 15,460
Deposit/Taxes Refund 13,526
Miscellaneous receipt - under investigation 6,600
Internal Balance Transfer -
Commission Income -
TOTAL RECEIPTS 62,786
DISBURSEMENTS
Wages 50,373
IT Costs 32,881
Liquidator's Out of Pocket 26,404
Relocation/Storage Costs 1,691
Utilities - Sublet Unit 912
Bank Charges/Interest 555
Advertisement 504
Statutory/Regulatory Fees 480
Utilities - Rental Unit 350
Value Added Tax 3
Legal Expenses -
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 114,154
ENDING BALANCE - 30/11/2019 223,717
AVAILABLE CASH BALANCE - 30/11/2019 223,717

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019
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8 — Accrued and Unpaid Expenses October 2, 2019 to November 30, 2019

PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD.
OFFICIAL LIQUIDATOR'S ESTIMATE OF ACCRUED & UNPAID LIABILITIES
OCTOBER 2, 2019 THRU NOVEMBER 30, 2019

VENDOR/SERVICES BSD
Micronet Computers - October Leased costs 1,337
Callendars - legal services
Intelisys Ltd - liquidation fees and costs 310,502
Southworth Consultants - IT services 2,072
TOTAL ACCRUED AND UNPAID ESTIMATED LIABILITIES $313,911

Intelisys
As at November 30, 2019
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9 - Listing of custodians

PACIFICO GLOBAL ADVISORS LTD (in OFFICIAL LIQUIDATION)
FIDUCIARY & COMMERCIAL INSTITUTIONS OF RECORD
CUSTODIAL & OPERATIONAL HOLDINGS

ITEM FIDUCIARY STATUS (as at reporting date)

1. [Ansbacher Bank (Bahamas) Balance Maintained
[ 2 Banca Credinvest Balance Maintained
3. Banca Del Sempione Zero Balance
4. |CBHBahamas Ltd. No response, however no balance on company records
s Deltec Bank & Trust (Bahamas) Balance Maintained
6. Finamic Balance Maintained
2 Gonet Bank & Trust Limited (Bahamas) No response, however no balance on company records
: Interactive Brokers LLC No response, however company records indicate balance
) North International Bank (Antigua) No response, however company records indicate balance
" 10. |Private Investment Bank (Bahamas) Zero Balance
11 Royal Bank of Canada (Bahamas) Balance Maintained

12. |Swissquote Balance Maintained

13. |Vauban International Bank Zero Balance

14. |XarisInc No response, however no balance on company records
Intelisys
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